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lodged on a range of topics 
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With a membership of over 7,500 
company secretaries, governance 
leaders and risk managers from 
business, not-for-profit and 
public sectors, Governance 
Institute of Australia is the only 
fully independent professional 
association with a sole focus on 
governance excellence.

For 110 years, our education, research, advocacy, and support 
networks have provided cutting edge governance and risk 
management advice to Australian business leaders from all walks 
of life. We celebrate Australia’s successes, and challenge it to be 
even better.
Our purpose — Strengthening society though governance 
excellence.
Our vision — Champion whole-of-organisation governance and risk 
management through education, advocacy and engagement with 
members and the broader community.
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Advocacy

New CEO 
commenced

304  
media mentions  
(highest ever)

35% more  
people visiting 
 our website 

Increased  
profile events

Over 26 speaking 
opportunities 

Policy priorities 
determined 

38,000 people 
signed up to governance 
and risk management 
emails (over 5,000  
joined in 2019)

Established new 
Risk and Technology 
Committee 

Building our profile 

18 submissions to the 
government and regulators 

2019 year in review



Education

5,082 short  
courses 
undertaken/
completed 

TEQSA approved  
new postgraduate 
courses for seven 
years 

Over 400 
attendees at  
the Governance 
and Risk 
Management 
Forums

1,002  
postgraduate 
enrolments 

Over 400 
attendees for 
the National 
Conference  

Introduction 
of Fellows-only 
roundtables 

65% male,  

35% female. 

826 new members  
— 10 year high! 

90% membership 
satisfaction 

Enhanced member value
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As the trusted authority on governance and risk management 
matters, we’re confident that our advocacy, training and thought 
leadership guidance will support you to meet the heightened 
standards in governance.  

Strategic direction 
This year we developed a five-year strategic plan (2020–2025) 
— a focused, high-level document that contains the proposed 
vision, purpose, values and goals for our organisation. Thank you 
to members, state councils, committees, staff and Board, who 
contributed to this member-focused strategy. 

Growth in membership
In 2019, we welcomed more than 826 new members, compared 
to 745 in 2018. This strengthens the governance community, 
brings new networks and helps us build a sustainable 
organisation.

Extensive member research was conducted in 2019 to 
understand your level of satisfaction and your needs to 
determine how we can better support you. We introduced 
Fellows-only roundtables where our more experienced members 
were able to engage in meaningful discussion.

We continue to engage with our members and customers 
through face-to-face events; online courses; email marketing, 
phone calls and social media. We continued to see significant 
growth in our email marketing database (now at 38,000) and 
our social media channels, including nearly 20,000 people on 
LinkedIn.

Policy and advocacy
This year, we worked with our policy committees to develop our 
six policy priorities to improve the standards of governance and 
risk management in Australia. 

1. Promoting governance as the foundation of civil society. 

2. Leading the debate on governance and risk management 
issues. 

3. Advocating for fit-for-purpose business infrastructure. 

4. Improving the regulatory environment to drive greater 
efficiency. 

5. Promoting ethics, integrity and accountability through good 
governance and risk management frameworks. 

6. Empowering governance professionals with skills and 
knowledge.

Our newest policy committee, the Risk and Technology 
Committee, includes representatives in risk roles from across 
Australia and promotes the practice of risk management, 
technology governance and compliance. 

Our newly introduced APRA-member discussion group enables 
members of APRA-regulated entities to discuss issues arising 
from increased APRA regulation.

We continue to promote the importance of the role of the 
governance and risk management professional by attending 
and speaking at relevant industry events. Our General Manager, 
Policy and Advocacy, Catherine Maxwell, gave expert evidence 
on governance at the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality 
and Safety. 

Chair and CEO report

2019 lifted the bar on the expectations of good governance across all sectors — with two 
national royal commissions reinforcing the importance of our evolving profession.  

John Mazengarb FGIA FCIS
President and Chair of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and  
of the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute.

Megan Motto FGIA
Chief Executive of Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd and  
of the Australian Division of The 
Chartered Governance Institute.
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Governance Institute and the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors collaborated on the joint statement on board minutes 
and legal opinion. Members of both organisations shared the 
value of the guide, and both organisations received coverage in 
the media and law firm updates.  

We are still a member of the #fixfundraising coalition calling 
for reform of the laws of charities and NFPs. We have also 
maintained our involvement with the CHESS Replacement 
Stakeholder Group. 

Thought leadership
This has been a bumper year for thought leadership. Our 
thought leadership reports provide you with topical content, 
build our profile and increase our membership. They also helped 
us achieve our highest media profile on record.  

Education
Governance Institute secured TEQSA accreditation for the new 
Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and Risk 
Management with an early exit option of a Graduate Certificate. 
Other initiatives included:

• creation of pathways within the graduate diploma to fulfil 
designation requirements for Chartered Secretary and 
Chartered Governance Professional 

• implementation of academic policies in support of growing 
student enrolments, including: 

 ° the introduction of conditional admission for prospective 
students who do not currently meet the entry 
requirements

 ° flexible study options including award course study, non-
award study, and non-assessed study 

 ° clearly articulated pathways for students to progress 
their study beyond the graduate diploma. 

• development of a student retention strategy 

• first intake of members of the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India to undertake Governance Institute 
subjects towards gaining membership of the Chartered 
Governance Institute.

Eleven short course reviews have been completed and four 
courses have been retired. Courses providing foundational 
professional development to our governance member base, 
Accidental Company Secretary® and Minutes for Boards and 
Committees, have been rewritten and re-released. 

Industry-relevant events and forums 
National Conference continues to be our premier event, with 
speakers such as Sir Winfried Bischoff, JP Morgan Securities 
and Lakshmi Shyam-Sunder of World Bank Group, attracting 
over 400 attendees this year (an 11 per cent increase in 
registrations).  

Chair and CEO report

Our state Governance and Risk Management Forums engage 
local keynote speakers and discuss governance and risk 
management from a state perspective. The forums are growing 
each year and are our flagship events for state members to 
engage, learn and network with peers. 

Our Not-For-Profit and Public Sector Governance Forums 
were also well-received by members, many forums exceeded 
their capacity, due to the quality of the speakers and member 
engagement.  

People and culture  
We undertook a staff survey to gather feedback on our 
organisation’s culture including engagement, wellbeing and 
progress. This was conducted by a third-party provider, Voice 
Project, who compared our organisation to the Associations, 
Professional and Peak Bodies benchmark. Values, flexibility and 
respect ranked favourably and overall the results are on par with 
the typical performance of organisations in this benchmark. In 
2020 we will be developing a staff wellbeing strategy. 

Operational excellence 
Projects are underway to increase the efficiency and 
effectiveness of our operational services. An independent IT 
audit was conducted this year, as a result we are creating a 
two-year IT roadmap to transform our technology, embracing 
more cloud-based solutions. Achievements in 2019 include the 
implementation of Microsoft 365 and increased data security. 

Financial health
A surplus of $337,846 from normal operational activities was 
achieved in 2019. The total addition to members’ funds in 2019 
was $337,846.  

Overall membership and sponsorship grew strongly, we also had 
strong online short course and postgraduate registrations. We 
surpassed 2018 for public short course registrations in 2019, 
however we achieved lower than the budgeted number due to 
individuals opting for online learning instead. The trading for 
in-house training softened somewhat with fewer organisations 
taking up this form of training due to reduced levels of spending 
and some large programs being put on hold. 

Our 2019 financial report is available on page 31. 

Thank you
Thank you to all of our members and our dedicated staff for your 
hard work and contribution to these achievements. In particular, 
thank you to our many dedicated volunteers who greatly 
assist us by teaching, participating in state councils and policy 
committees and contributing in so many other ways.  

Without your ongoing support, involvement and great passion 
for Governance Institute we would not be able to achieve this 
level of success.

As a final note, COVID-19 has now presented as a significant 
shock to the world. Whilst this will certainly have an impact, the 
Governance Institute is well positioned to continue to support 
members and the Australian community in these unprecedented 
times.

This has been a bumper year for 
thought leadership.
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Membership
We report to members not only in this annual report, but also 
in our digital journal, Governance Directions, and in a range of 
communications. We also regularly engage with our members 
using social media. This enables us to keep members fully 
informed.

Transparency
The strategic plan forms the basis of activities for the future but 
it also acts as the primary accountability mechanism between 
management and the Board. Operational performance, key 
performance indicators and adherence to set project timelines 
are monitored on a regular basis by the chief executive and 
by the Board at each of its meetings through the year. Key 
management personnel also present to the Board at each 
meeting, providing an opportunity for directors to question 
senior management directly. 

Accountability
Governance Institute operates nationally and with representation 
in all states. Members of our Board are elected from each state, 
for a term of three years. 

The Board has a clear understanding of the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the Board and management and has clarified 
this in a Board charter. This is available on our website.

Each state council also has a clear understanding of its role in 
assisting the Board to represent the interests of the members 
in each state. The state charter is regularly reviewed to ensure 
it is fit for purpose as the strategic direction of the organisation 
changes. State councillors are integral to Governance Institute’s 
engagement with its members because they provide feedback 
and ideas to enhance our services and offerings and their 
expertise as an ambassador and mentor within their local state 
community. 

Governance Institute reports against the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations, which is both relevant and applicable to our 
organisation. 

Our Corporate Governance Statement is available on our website 
at governanceinstitute.com.au/AnnualReport 

While we report against these high corporate standards, as a 
membership body it is important to communicate regularly and 
consult with our members because we are accountable to and 
responsible for meeting their needs. 

We outline these below under six broad principles or governance 
‘pillars’: stewardship and financial sustainability, membership, 
transparency, accountability, integrity and risk management. 

  
Stewardship and financial sustainability
Governance Institute directors ensure the sustainability of our 
organisation, for the benefit of our stakeholders. The directors 
set the strategic direction to ensure the organisation remains 
financially strong, that membership is engaged and grows 
and that the organisation remains relevant to members and 
customers, government, regulators, business, media and other 
key stakeholders now and into the future. 

All of the major strategic decisions made by Governance 
Institute result from an ongoing strategic planning process. 
Each year, the Board holds a special meeting to review and 
focus on strategy, and in addition monitors strategy throughout 
the year. This process contributes to setting KPIs for senior 
management and staff. It is clearly documented and is reported 
against at each board meeting. 

To ensure the financial health and sustainability of the 
organisation, the directors set strategies to diversify revenue 
streams. 

We review our education, training and professional development 
offerings in order to cater for the expanding needs of a widening 
membership. We also seek to open up new pathways for 
potential members and customers through alliances. 

Governance and stewardship
Governance Institute’s own governance framework is modelled on that of leading listed 
companies but with additional elements reflecting our status as a membership organisation. We 
believe this multifaceted approach is not only appropriate to the nature of our organisation but 
ensures it can sustainably deliver value to members into the future. 
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Integrity
All members must abide by the members’ code of ethics 
available on our website. However, the incidence of disciplinary 
action taken against members is very low, highlighting how you, 
our members, embody integrity in your professional practice 
conduct. 

Each staff member has the values of the organisation 
embedded in their annual performance plan, one of which is to 
behave ethically and with integrity. 

We bring an independent mind to influencing public policy and 
other issues affecting the profession. We also promote integrity 
in our learning programs, not only via the quality of the content 
but also through procedural fairness and educational equity. Our 
education policies are publicly available on our website.

Governance and stewardship

Governance structure

Risk management
Governance Institute has unrivalled depth and expertise as an 
independent influencer and commentator on governance and 
risk management thinking and behaviour in Australia. 

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, management 
and staff to continually review what Governance Institute 
does, to investigate new opportunities, and to take account of 
individual risks in decision-making. 

One way we do this is by applying the key learnings from our 
education, training and professional development offerings 
into our own organisation to continuously enhance our 
risk management framework and associated systems and 
processes. 

Board of Directors

Board  
committees

Policy &  
Strategy

Membership  
state councils

Professional  
development

Risk, audit 
& finance

Legislation 
review

New South 
Wales/ ACT

Education

Remuneration  
& nomination

Corporate & 
legal issues

Victoria

Public sector 
governance

South Australia/
Northern Territory

Risk &  
technology

Queensland

Tasmania

Western  
Australia

Communications
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The Board
Warren Baillie LLB, BCom, Grad Dip CSP, FGIA, FCIS, MAICD  
(appointed 12.1.11)

Extensive experience in corporate and commercial law, corporate governance and 
company secretarial practice, both in the corporate sector and the NFP sector. 
Currently group company secretary of Woodside Energy Ltd. Also a non-executive 
director of Black Swan Health Limited and Wesley College. Past president of 
Governance Institute. Director of Governance Institute subsidiary companies.

Garth Fountain-Smith LLB, GradCertLegPrac, GradDipACG, FGIA,  
FCIS, MAICD 
(appointed 31.1.16)

Lawyer and director of Fountain-Smith Governance Lawyers Pty Ltd in Victoria; 
consultant to Marshalls+Dent+Wilmoth. Experience includes corporations law, 
directors’ and officers’ duties, regulatory and enforcement law across business 
and financial services sectors, commercial litigation, professional conduct 
matters, and board reviews. Regulatory experience as a lawyer and manager 
with ASIC. Executive management experience as director, chief operating officer 
and general counsel in the information technology sector. Chair of Constitution 
Working committee, member of Victoria Council and the Institute’s Legislation 
Review Committee.

Andrew Leake BEc, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCIS, CA, GAICD  
(appointed 1.1.16)

A senior business leader with extensive experience in business consulting, 
corporate finance, publishing, education, NFP, governance and secretarial practice. 
COO at Wenona School, a leading Sydney school for girls. Director of the Winston 
Churchill Memorial Trust and chair of the NSW Selection process of the Trust. 
Vice president of the 2020 Board of Governance Institute, member and immediate 
past chair of Governance Institute’s NSW State Council and chair of Governance 
Institute’s Risk Audit and Finance Committee.

Christine Manuel BMus, GradDipACG, DipCD, DipInvRel, FGIA, FCIS, 
MAICD, MAITD, AAIPM 
(appointed 1.1.17)

Currently company secretary at Angel Seafood Holdings Ltd, Centrex Metals 
Limited and AML3D Limited. Previous roles include company secretary of People’s 
Choice Credit Union and group secretariat adviser at Santos Limited. International 
experience in project and risk management and senior corporate management 
roles providing consulting and training services in various technical disciplines 
in the Asia Pacific region. Facilitator for various Governance Institute Certificate 
programs and in-house training since 2012. Member of Governance Institute’s 
Legislation Review Committee,  immediate past chair of the SA/NT State Council 
and vice president of the 2020 Board of Governance Institute.
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The Board

Peter Turnbull BCom, LLB, FGIA (Life), FCIS, FAICD  
(appointed 1.1.09)

A non-executive director and chair with extensive experience in company secretarial 
practice, corporate law and governance practice. Current non-executive roles include 
ASX listed companies in the energy and technology sectors and former executive 
roles have included senior roles with regulatory authorities in Australia and Hong Kong 
and senior corporate roles with ASX Top 20 companies. Currently international Vice-
President of the Chartered Governance Institute, Life member and Past President of 
Governance Institute.

John Mazengarb BCom, FGIA, FCIS, FCA, MAICD  
(appointed 8.1.14)

Extensive management consultancy career with PricewaterhouseCoopers and IBM 
and senior executive contract positions for Tasmanian Government businesses 
leading major transformation programs. Executive director of GSD Advisors Pty Ltd; 
non-executive director of Mafematica Pty Ltd; trustee director of TasPlan Limited; 
independent member of TasBuild Ltd Investment Committee and independent chair 
of Clarence City Council Audit Committee. Member of Tasmanian State Council since 
2009. President, 2020 of the Board of Governance Institute. Director of Governance 
Institute subsidiary companies 1.1.19.

Rachel Rees BBus, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCIS, FCA  
(appointed 8.2.13)

2019 President of the Board of Governance Institute. Senior executive and Chartered 
Accountant with extensive leadership, commercial, strategic financial and risk 
management and corporate governance experience in multinational and listed 
corporations. Currently Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Lionel 
Samson Sadleirs Group. 2017-2018 Vice President of the Board of Governance 
Institute, 2016-2018 Chair of the Risk, Audit and Finance Committee and 2018 Chair 
of Remuneration Committee of Governance Institute. Current member of the WA 
Council. Director of Governance Institute subsidiary companies.

Tim Timchur BBus, GradDipACG, FGIA, FCIS, FCPA, FIML, FAMI, GIACD, 
CPM 
(appointed 1.1.18)

Extensive experience in accounting, corporate governance, risk management and 
technology, in the corporate and NFP sectors. Currently Managing Director of 365 
Architechs Pty Ltd. Facilitator for various Governance Institute Certificate programs 
since 2013. Member of the Queensland State Council, Risk Audit and Finance Board 
Committee, National Risk and Technology Policy Committee, and the Commercial and 
Legal Issues Policy Committee.
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Megan joined Governance Institute of 
Australia as chief executive in January 
2019. Megan was previously the CEO of 
Consult Australia. Megan is also currently 
a Director of Standards Australia and the 
Committee for Economic Development of 
Australia (CEDA).  

Megan has a BA/BEd, an MA in 
Communications Management, and is a 
graduate and Fellow of the AICD.  

Meegan’s experience extends over 
20 years of international involvement 
in global custody, financial planning, 
insurance, superannuation and 
professional associations. Her current 
responsibilities include finance, IT, people 
and culture, risk management, legal and 
compliance and property and leasing.  

Meegan holds a BA of Commerce, from 
the University of Canberra, a Certificate 
IV in Assessment & Workplace Training 
and a Graduate Conversion Course in 
Accounting from University of Technology 
Sydney. She has also completed the 
Company Directors Course from the AICD 
and the Effective Director Course from 
Governance Institute.  

Leon has over 15 years of experience 
working with professional associations.  
His current responsibilities span 
membership, state operations and the 
advisory function for education and 
professional development.  

Prior to joining Governance Institute, 
Leon was Advisor to the CEO at CAANZ.  

Leon holds a Bachelor of Business, 
Human Resources and Hospitality 
Management from Victoria University. 
Leon also holds a Certificate IV in 
Workplace Training and Assessment from 
the University of Melbourne, Training 
Services Department.  

Megan Motto FGIA
Chief Executive

Meegan George FGIA
Chief Operations Officer

Leon Cox
General Manager, Membership   
State Manager, VIC  

General management team
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Catherine’s team is responsible for 
policy and advocacy. Her background 
includes a senior manager role with 
APRA, policy and governance roles at 
the AICD and the Financial Services 
Council, secretariat to the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council and 
as company secretary for the Cancer 
Council.  

Catherine holds degrees in Arts and 
Law from the University of Sydney and 
worked as a lawyer in Sydney and Hong 
Kong.

Rachel’s team is responsible for 
Governance Institute’s engagement 
strategy with members, subscribers 
and customers. This includes promoting 
Governance Institute and membership, 
events and courses and building; 
media and maintaining strong strategic 
partnerships.  

Rachel is a graduate of the 
MBA (Executive) from AGSM, UNSW 
Business School and has a Bachelor of 
Business from the University of Newcastle. 
She completed the Company Directors 
Course from the AICD and the Effective 
Director Course from Governance 
Institute and is undertaking postgraduate 
study from Governance Institute.  

Catherine Maxwell FGIA
General Manager, Policy & 
Advocacy

Mark Wilbourn
General Manager, Education

Mark’s team supports Governance 
Institute’s objective of being the 
leading provider of accredited 
postgraduate education and 
training in governance and risk 
management. Governance Institute 
offers graduate certificates/
diplomas and short course certificates in 
governance practice and risk 
management.  

Mark holds a Master of Science 
from Canterbury Christ Church 
University, and a Certificate in 
Education from Sheffield Hallam 
University.  

Rachel Waterhouse GIA(Affiliated)
General Manager, Engagement

General management team
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In 2019 we developed a five-year strategy (2020–2025) — a focused, high-level document that 
contains the proposed vision, purpose, values and goals for our organisation. Our members, 
state councils, committees, staff and Board, contributed to this member-focused strategy. 

We’ve refined our purpose statement 
to ‘strengthening society through 
governance excellence’ and our vision 
is to ‘champion whole of organisation 
governance and risk management through 
education, advocacy and engagement with 
members and the broader community’. 

The new strategy includes both 2020 
and 2025 measurable goals for the 
organisation’s success. 

Brand and profile 
We will continue to build our profile and 
reach target audiences. Our 2020 media 
strategy involves an additional focus on 
regional areas and advocacy issues. 

In 2020 we will look to identify those 
members who are doing great things 
for the economy, their business and the 
broader community. We will celebrate 
these achievements and provide the much 
needed recognition that these governance 
champions deserve. 

Advocacy 
We have commenced a project to define 
core advocacy priorities and develop an 
advocacy and policy strategy with input 
from our policy and advocacy committees. 
We will communicate to all stakeholders in 
early 2020. 

We want to activate and grow our 
Canberra presence — both in terms of 
membership and influence with federal 
governments. 

Education 
The focus for 2020 will be to establish a 
Governance Institute Academy that will: 

• be the leader in governance education 

• deliver courses to equip students with 
skills, capabilities and attributes for 
their future work and study 

• deliver courses to provide a richly 
interactive and personalised learning 
experience with improved access to 
learning opportunities and pathways 
and 

• deliver teaching and learning that is 
valued, recognised, rewarded and 
celebrated. 

Governance Institute will develop a 
governance capability framework that 
will provide a common foundation of the 
core capabilities and behaviours that 
all governance professionals need to 
perform their role. The new Graduate 
Certificate and Graduate Diploma will 
be available and blended learning will 
be piloted as part of the modernisation 
agenda for course delivery. 

The focus for professional development 
in 2020 will continue to be aligned 
to improving governance and risk 
management capability. 

We will continue to update short courses 
in 2020, in addition to a focus on the 
development of new short courses. 

The newly designed Certificate structure 
will apply in 2020. We will align key 
course topics in each Certificate with the 
current skill requirements of governance 
and risk professionals in the corporate 
and not-for-profit sectors. We’re also 
enhancing flexibility in delivery modes, 
and selection of elective courses.

Operations 
Our focus for 2020 involves the 
continuation of the IT Roadmap.  
This includes the migration of our 
IT infrastructure to a new globally 
recognised partner; upgrading our 
network connectivity to improve member 
access, and transitioning our membership 
database into a cloud-based solution, 
increasing staff efficiency and work 
practice flexibility.   

Our employees are our most important 
and valued asset.  A staff wellbeing 
strategy will be introduced to assist 
our employees maximise their potential 
in a harmonious and productive work 
environment. 

Strategy
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Strategy 2020 - 2025

INFLUENCE INSPIRE SUPPORT

Stronger 
Voice

Brand and 
profile Advocacy Future focus Education

Enhance 
member 

value

Integrity Courage Service  
excellence

Collaboration

Strengthening society through  
governance excellence.

Champion whole of organisation governance  
and risk management through education,  
advocacy and engagement with members  

and the broader community.

OUR PURPOSE OUR VISION

PILLARS

PATHWAYS

VALUES

Strategy framework

Integrity Courage Service  
excellence

Collaboration
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Dan Csillag FGIA FCIS 
General Manager,  
Company Secretariat and  
Senior Legal Counsel  
ASX Limited 

What the future holds for corporate 
governance
All companies are now technology 
companies — whether that’s through the 
products or services they supply, or how 
they engage with their customers and 
other stakeholders. Companies need to 
have a technology strategy, a tech-savvy 
board and the right executive leadership.
The speed of technical innovation and 
new, complex and evolving risks means 
there can often be a lot of uncertainty 
on matters where boards need to make 
quick and informed decisions. 
A key focus for corporate governance 
professionals will be improving processes 
and providing technical solutions to help 
make the board’s role easier to perform 
— ensuring that it has the information 
and insights needed to consider the risks 
and make decisions quickly. 

Why I belong to Governance Institute
Governance Institute membership 
provides access to articles on 
governance trends and useful guidance 
on best practice. I’ve also really 
appreciated the opportunity to attend 
events hosted by Governance Institute to 
hear from industry leaders and engage 
with peers. 

What corporate governance and risk 
management mean to me
This is a dynamic time to be a 
governance and risk professional as more 
and more organisations are embracing 
the importance of risk management, 
especially in the areas of regulatory and 
operational risk. Robust operational risk 
and compliance structures as well as 
strong corporate governance elements 
are designed to keep boards, senior 
management and employees responsible 
and accountable for decision-making 
and risk governance. Soft skills are the 
key to success for any governance and 
risk professional and I encourage you to 
enhance your skills in public speaking, 
presentation delivery and managing 
stakeholder relationships. 
 
How understanding governance/risk 
management helps me in my role
A technical and practical understanding 
of governance and risk management 
is essential in my role as I help my 
business stakeholders navigate an 
increasingly regulated environment. 
I encourage all governance and risk 
professionals to take advantage of the 
many excellent educational programs, 
industry conferences and seminars and 
networking opportunities Governance 
Institute provides to build on and 
continually grow their career.

Sonya Kumar GIA(Affiliated)

Senior Manager Risk & Compliance, 
BT Investment Solutions,  
Westpac Group

Ben Pratt AGIA ACIS

Group Head of External Relations, 
QBE Insurance 

What corporate risk management means 
to me
As the head of external relations, I’m at 
the frontline when it comes to managing 
reputation risk for the company I work 
for. This involves dealing with current 
issues, as well as trying to ‘see around 
corners’, to anticipate emerging risks and 
advising on how we should prepare and 
respond. Reputation risk has really grown 
in prominence and importance in the 
nearly 20 years that I have been doing this 
work, as expectations for companies have 
evolved, and it’s now front and centre for 
board and executive teams. I think that’s a 
good thing.

What the future holds for corporate 
governance
The expectations of companies, boards 
and executive teams from governments, 
regulators and society continue to grow 
and that means corporate governance 
standards must continue to evolve to 
keep up. It’s a really dynamic environment 
and new risks are emerging all of the 
time. Take climate change for example, 
there’s a huge amount of work underway 
economy-wide for companies to implement 
the TCFD recommendation and weigh 
the short, medium and long-term risks 
and opportunities associated with climate 
change, including potential liability risks. 
That’s going to be an ongoing challenge.

Profiles of members
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Shannon Doecke GIA (Affiliated)

Assistant Company Secretary, 
Elders Limited

What the future holds for corporate 
governance
Corporate governance is dynamic and 
will respond to changes in the macro 
environment. In the near future, I expect 
consumer and public sentiment will likely 
drive governance changes as they receive 
more focus and attention. I think this is 
logical given user purchasing decisions 
ultimately decide the fate of businesses 
the world over. I believe there is growing 
recognition of the importance of 
corporate governance and its associated 
risks and rewards. It is an exciting time to 
be working in governance as it continues 
to develop.

Why I belong to Governance Institute
I am a member of the Governance 
Institute because it supports my 
professional development in a way 
that other institutions do not. Its 
focus on governance and governance 
improvements directly apply to my work. 
It provides useful guides that can be 
applied in various contexts. Governance 
Institute also supported my study while 
living abroad.

Profiles of members

Stephen Shirvington FGIA 
Governance Manager, Legal Aid 
Queensland

What corporate governance/risk 
management means to me
Becoming an ‘accidental’ governance 
officer in 2008 was a defining moment. 
Since then I have occupied roles specific 
to corporate governance and risk 
management and found my niche.
Corporate governance and risk 
management have created many 
opportunities for me to grow 
professionally, partner in successful 
organisations across three different 
industries and demonstrate my value 
proposition to organisational stakeholders. 

How understanding governance/risk 
management helps me in my role
My role at Legal Aid Queensland, a 
statutory authority established under its 
own legislation comprises a broad range 
of responsibilities to deliver reliable and 
effective corporate governance outcomes. 
An understanding of governance/risk 
management enables me to provide 
efficient and prudent coordination and 
advice about strategic and operational 
planning, compliance, risk management, 
business continuity, right to information 
and privacy, complaints management and 
coordinate the outsourced internal  
audit program.
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Education 
Governance Institute educational offerings are a valued asset 
for our new members — members comprised 38 per cent of 
the student cohort in 2019. Twenty-four per cent of the student 
cohort became members after graduation. In addition, a quarter 
of students who completed a Certificate or postgraduate course 
in 2019 with Governance Institute were current members at the 
time of graduation. 

Sixty-two per cent of all new members either completed or 
enrolled in study with Governance Institute in 2019.  

Milestones 
As our members progress through their careers we recognise 
their achievements. In 2019: 

• 43 members progressed from Affiliated membership to 
Associate or Fellow membership 

• 59 members progressed from Associate to Fellow 
membership 

• 60 members reached 50 years of membership 

• 134 members reached retirement 

Member retention rate

Overall membership retention 
remained high at 92 per cent for 
2019 and we have had 826 new 
members  — a ten-year record.

Membership growth
The growth of membership demonstrates the strength of the 
organisation, an increase in Governance Institute’s public profile 
and reflects the diversity of governance and risk professionals. 
2019 has seen membership increase with a growth rate of 
two per cent and a high retention rate across all categories of 
membership. 

Overall membership retention remained high at 92 per cent for 
2019 and we have had 826 new members — a ten-year record.  

Diversity and profile
Governance Institute supports members as they start and 
continue their governance careers. Membership is recognised 
as a stamp of excellence in governance and risk management 
across a wide array of professional backgrounds.  

Predominantly our members are senior governance and risk 
professionals; spanning professions such as law and IT, finance, 
healthcare and education. 

Women account for 35 per cent of our total membership, 
increasing 12 per cent over the last five years as the 
representation of women in professions like law, finance and 
executive management increase. 

As a national association our members also reflect a diversity 
of geographic locations, with NSW and VIC being home to the 
majority of our members. 

Event attendance 
Professional development and networking events remain 
popular with members.  

Twenty-two per cent of our total membership and a third of new 
members attended events in 2019. 

Members made up 47 per cent of attendees at networking and 
profile events and 30 per cent of attendees at professional 
development events. Digital events, such as our webinars and 
digital workshops, have been the most popular events with 
members throughout 2019. 

New members

Our membership



Governance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2019  |   Page 17

2019
37%

19%

20%

10%

8%
6%

0 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

2017

2018

2019

68%

70%

65%

32%

35%

30%

7,352

7,539

7,101

0 4,000 8,000

2017

2018

2019

Our membership

New members joining the Institute by gender

Overall members by gender

At year end, members and subscribers 
totalled 7,912

Membership by profile

Governance Institute has experienced a two per cent growth 
in membership and a 16 per cent decrease in the number of 
subscribers throughout 2019.

Since the introduction of the Professional Entry Scheme 
(PES) we have seen a decrease in subscribers as they opt to 
apply for membership. Twenty-four per cent of subscribers 
transitioned to membership in 2019.

Members by state
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Website
Last year, the website grew by almost 76,986 unique users to 
almost 300,000 users (up 35% on 2018). We have had almost 
13,000 downloads since the Resource Centre went live. 

In 2019, users logged in over 10,722 times to view our digital 
journal, Governance Directions. 

Website growth, number of unique users
2019 298,562

2018 221,576

Media
Last year, we had 304 media mentions, which is our strongest 
year in over five years. Much of this coverage was generated by 
our 2019 Ethics Index document, our thought leadership and 
commentary on the Royal Commission into Misconduct in the 
Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services Industry and 
the announcement of the Royal Commission into Aged Care 
Quality and Safety. 

Number of media mentions of Governance Institute
2019 304

2018 159

2017 56

Social media
Social media is an important and growing engagement and 
referral channel for Governance Institute. In 2019, LinkedIn 
exceeded the 19,000 follower milestone. We added Instagram 
as a social media channel.

Email marketing
The email database grew significantly in 2019. Our News Update 
email reached over 38,000 people. 

News Update, number of contacts
2019 38,292

2018 32,616

Last year we started to capture more accurate information 
about a customer’s current and aspirational job role to deliver 
more tailored and relevant content to our members and other 
customers. As at the end of 2019, over 9,600 people had added 
their role details. 

Digital engagement

Increase in number of social media followers

LinkedIn

Twitter Facebook

LinkedIn member only group

Our video ‘What is 
Corporate Governance’ 
received over 10k views 
in a year on YouTube

Instagram
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The future of the governance professional was our most popular thought leadership report in 
2019 with almost 2,000 downloads.  

The governance professional of 
2025, regardless of industry, will 
manage additional regulatory scrutiny 
and more extensive compliance 
requirements within a more complex 
working environment, on top of 
the technological issues around 
disruption, data management and rate 
of change.  

While much of the research focused 
on new technology, accelerated 
workplace disruption via artificial 
intelligence, blockchain, and new data 
privacy legislation, most governance 
professionals believe they will 
still be dealing with the fallout of 
enormous regulatory changes for the 
foreseeable future. 

This has been driven by the 
banking royal commission, the 
Banking Executive Accountability 
Regime (BEAR) and the newly 
revised ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles, which now demand 
in-depth assessments on non-
financial metrics, such as diversity, 
environmental sustainability and 
culture. 

Interestingly, these insights go 
beyond the financial sector — into all 
Australian organisations, regardless 
of size or industry.  

Highlights
• Increased regulatory scrutiny, 

business complexity, and 
technological disruption to define 
governance practice for the near 
future. 

• Directors may need to limit the 
number of board appointments 
they accept as the role becomes 
more complex and demanding of 
their time. 

The future of the governance 
professional

• There will be a stronger focus on board 
renewal and maximum tenure. This 
could open up boardroom seats and 
increase diversity 

• More Millennials will join boards 
and they are likely to place greater 
emphasis on ethics and social issues. 
They will also potentially be less rigid 
in their understanding and style, and 
keener to push the envelope. 

• Scrutiny of both director and executive 
pay is likely to rise. 

• Future company secretaries may 
also be asked to sit on the boards of 
other organisations to gain different 
perspectives to support their internal 
roles. 

• The company secretary is expected to 
play an important role and become the 
‘conscience’ of the board or its ‘chief 
ethical adviser’. 

• Just 30 per cent of governance 
respondents stated that they were ‘well 
prepared’ or ‘very well prepared’ to face 
the challenges of the future, 9% said 
they were not prepared. 

• The community doesn’t trust 
institutions anymore and it does not 
want regulators to deal amicably with 
them. It wants to see public revelations 
when people fail to comply and, in 
some instances, it wants people 
brought to the courts and punished.  

• Governance professionals view 
AI positively to help them make 
decisions based around quantitative 
assessments and emotional 
intelligence (39%), improving the 
quality of data a board receives (25%) 
and taking over routine administrative 
tasks (23%). Just four per cent think AI 
will cause job losses in administrative 
roles. 

Download the report on our website. 

The fiuture of the governance professional
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Governance Institute provides leading 
education and training in corporate 
governance and risk management to:

• develop and enrich the governance 
and risk management expertise of 
members

• encourage new membership of 
Governance Institute via education 
and training pathways

• promote good governance 
by encouraging the uptake of 
governance and risk management 
skills more generally in the wider 
community

• assist organisations enhance their 
governance capability and more 
effective decision-making

• build alliances with other educators 
to leverage governance and risk 
education into new areas.

Short courses Certificates

Individuals often first engage with our 
education and training by searching for 
specific governance or risk management 
issues and for just-in-time learning in a 
particular area. More students have opted 
to register into individual courses and 
complete them progressively rather than 
commit to six courses being a certificate 
up front. 

For those seeking to develop a 
professional hands-on understanding 
of governance or risk management, 
a suite of short courses can then be 
undertaken. These articulate into one of 
three Certificates. There is a continued 
trend of high female enrolment in these 
courses.

Number of short courses undertaken

Number of Certificate enrolments

Number of graduates

GIA(Affiliated) membership

Professional membership

Those who have undertaken education at a postgraduate level 
with us are entitled to apply to become Associate or Fellow 
members. Graduates of a Certificate course are entitled to 
apply to become an Affiliated member. 

However, with the introduction of the Professional Entry 
Scheme (PES) students can become members across all 
categories, provided they meet the PES requirements, before 
they enrol or graduate their course.

Thirty-six per cent of PES members have undertaken 
certificates or postgraduate courses in 2019, an increase of  
five per cent on 2018.

Overall, we have increased new members and the number of 
members year on year.

Developing governance and  
risk management expertise

New members by pathway

 Entry through 
Certificate

Entry through 
postgraduate 

Entry through 
PES

2019 96 81 642
2018 150 96 497
2017 161 140 299

PES members undertaking education

 Certificate Postgraduate 
2019 127 104
2018 108 47
2017 53 32
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Postgraduate courses

New members who graduated with  
a Certificate

Individuals can undertake accredited postgraduate courses as their careers progress, 
providing a deeper and much more rigorous exploration of knowledge and skills, 
appropriate to more senior levels of governance and risk management responsibility. 
The enrolments in postgraduate courses reflect the gender balance of broader society 
and will, in the long term, lead to evolution in the composition of Governance Institute’s 
membership.

Number of postgraduate enrolments
Number of enrolments by Certificate 
graduates

Number of graduates

New members who graduated from a 
postgraduate course

AGIA or FGIA membership

Number of professional  
development events
In 2019 we continued our strategy 
of offering better targeted events. 
This resulted in a 109 per cent 
increase in registrations compared 
with 2018. This was driven mainly by 
digital events

Number of events

Number of attendees

Attendees at professional 
development events
Professional development events 
provide our members, subscribers 
and customers with opportunities 
to stay up to date on current 
topics relevant to their roles. In 
2019 the number of attendees 
at our professional development 
events increased by just over 35 
per cent on 2018. A higher number 
of international speakers and 
nationally recognised speakers 
addressing key topics of interest  
in governance has contributed to 
this growth.

Many Certificate graduates go on to 
undertake the postgraduate courses 
benefiting from greater exposure to 
governance knowledge and skills  
found in Governance Institute’s 
postgraduate courses.

Governance Institute’s Certificates
• Certificate in Governance Practice

• Certificate in Governance and Risk Management

• Certificate in Governance for Not-for-Profits. 

Governance Institute’s postgraduate courses
• Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance

• Graduate Certificate of Applied Risk Management

• Graduate Diploma of Applied Risk Management and 
Applied Corporate Governance

Networking and  
profile events
Governance Institute networking and 
profile events connect our members, 
subscribers and professional 
participants with colleagues working 
in their unique field of interest or 
responsibility. These events strengthen 
the collegiate nature of Governance 
Institute’s community by enabling 
peer-to-peer exchange of professional 
knowledge, networks and consultation 
among like-minded professionals.

Total number  
of events

Total number  
of attendees

2019 53 1,570
2018 41 1,025

Developing governance and risk management expertise
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What sets Governance Institute Certificate and postgraduate courses apart is the direct involvement of expert practitioners and 
academics. Governance Institute members add value by participating in the development and presentation of education and 
training programs. This expertise and practical experience of members, coupled with the insight of selected academic experts who 
have studied governance systems and legal frameworks for many years, strengthens and reinforces the Governance Institute-as-
educator model. This is well recognised by industry. By being involved in training and education, Governance Institute members can 
also further hone their own practical skills and conceptual frameworks, thus creating a virtuous circle of governance expertise and 
practice. As a result, governance and risk management skills are handed down from generation to generation and are continually 
being enhanced and improved.

Course directors of postgraduate course subjects who 
are Governance Institute members
Course directors are lecturers and tutors in our postgraduate 
courses. They are responsible for teaching classes to a 
postgraduate standard.

Guest presenters at postgraduate course subjects who 
are Governance Institute members
Guest presenters provide specialised expertise in specific 
sections of the postgraduate classes.
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2019 53%

59%

37%

Members of Education Committee, Assessment Review 
Committee and Subject Advisory Committees who are 
Governance Institute members
Governance Institute has several academic committees and panels 
including the Education Committee, the Assessment Review 
Committee, and Subject Advisory Committees of each subject.

0 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

2017

2018

2019 50%

47%

41%

Training presenters who are Governance Institute members
Training presenters deliver the short courses for  
Governance Institute.
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Training authors/reviewers/markers who are Governance 
Institute members
The training authors/reviewers/markers are selected based 
on specific expertise in governance or risk, or have academic 
qualifications.
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Governance Institute also uses non-members in particular 
specialised roles in education and training. This is done 
where the skill set does not exist within the membership, 
or where particular qualifications are required, for example, 
academic accounting qualifications for delivery of the 
accounting/finance subjects in the Graduate Diploma of 
Applied Corporate Governance. 

Industry expertise involved  
in education and training
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implications for governance and culture 
of the final report of the financial services 
royal commission have been downloaded 
more than 1,800 times by members. 
We addressed the findings of the royal 
commission in our thought leadership 
project Strategies for engaging with 
regulators. Our newest policy committee, 
Risk and Technology, has produced 
submissions to government, the 
Australian Human Rights Commission 
and Standards Australia on AI and ethics 
and cyber security. 

Advocating for fit-
for-purpose business 
infrastructure 
Led by the ATO, a major project to 
modernise the business registry 
system will provide the backbone for 
transforming the way businesses interact 
with government. We continued active 
consultation with the modernisation 
project team and are a member of the 
project’s Business Advisory Group. In 
2020 we will continue to advocate with 
government about the importance of 
maintaining funding and momentum on 
this significant project. 

Our detailed submission on the 
substantial package of reforms to  
the Listing Rules provided practical 
feedback on the implications of the 
changes for the market. 

We maintained our involvement with 
the CHESS Replacement Stakeholder 
Group by engaging with key political 
stakeholders. As a representative of the 
group, our CEO was interviewed by senior 
journalists about the group’s issues, 
and articles about the group’s interests 
appeared in the media. We continued 
to attend project focus group meetings 
and meetings of the Straight Through 
Processing Project. In 2019 we joined 

Promoting governance as the 
foundation of civil society 
Our work under this pillar involves raising 
awareness of the role of governance 
and risk professionals by engaging with 
members and others about our policy 
positions. Our expertise is frequently 
sought by government and regulators 
to test public policy ideas. Catherine 
Maxwell, General Manager, Policy & 
Advocacy, appeared as an expert witness 
on governance at the Royal Commission 
into Aged Care Quality and Safety. We 
also maintain close working partnerships 
with other key national and international 
stakeholder groups on matters of mutual 
interest to ensure our policy positions are 
informed by up-to-date knowledge on 
their thinking.  

Leading the debate on 
governance and risk 
management issues 
We are a founding member of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council, and as 
a member of the drafting committee for 
the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations, we participated in 
shaping the leading Australian statement 
on governance. Practical insights from 
our members informed our contribution 
to the consultation process. Our 
member-only Insight on the changes in 
the fourth edition was one of the most 
downloaded member documents of 2019 
(1,597 downloads). Supporting members 
and others as they move to implement 
and report against the fourth edition will 
be a focus in 2020.   

An essential part of our role is 
researching and analysing current and 
emerging governance issues that impact 
on governance and risk professionals. 
Two member-only Insights on the 

the ASX Business Committee, and we 
continue to advocate for open sharing of 
information about the project.

Improving the regulatory 
environment to drive greater 
efficiency 
We made a joint submission with AIRA to 
the Treasury Deregulation Taskforce on 
electronic shareholder communications. 
The Deregulation Taskforce is looking for 
a new group of projects to progress in 
2020. We recommended amendments to 
the Corporations Act 2001 to facilitate 
electronic or digital disclosure of 
information to shareholders and reduce 
the burden on companies in the form 
of cost and paper waste that occurs 
when sending hard copy shareholder 
communications by mail. 

We are a member of the #fixfundraising 
Coalition calling for reform of the laws 
applying to the fundraising activities of 
charities. The group has been advocating 
for a solution that would involve a minor 
amendment to the Australian Consumer 
Law, which would have the benefit of 
not requiring harmonisation of existing 
state-based fundraising legislation or 
any referral of powers. We hosted a 
roundtable for members of the Coalition 
with The Hon Senator Zed Seselja, 
Minister for Charities. He is expected to 
announce the government’s response to 
the ACNC review before the end of the 
financial year. 

Our ability to influence public policy 
development comes not only via our 
contributions to public consultations 
but also through regular liaison with 
regulators, standard-setting bodies and 
government departments. The team 
participated in an industry roundtable 
to meet the new deputy secretary of the 
Treasury Markets Group. 

Leadership and influence
Governance Institute’s policy and advocacy are supported by long-standing relationships with 
key stakeholders. Our members’ significant expertise and experience inform our policy and 
advocacy positions. During 2019, our policy and advocacy focus was on our six strategic pillars. 
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Promoting ethics, integrity 
and accountability through 
good governance and risk 
management frameworks 
In our submission to ASIC on its draft 
regulatory guide on whistleblower 
policies we recommended that ASIC: 

• simplify the guide to make it more 
concise and less complex for users  

• clarify what is a legal requirement and 
what is suggested best practice  

• include commentary on how smaller 
organisations can develop a fit for 
purpose whistleblower policy that is 
appropriate for their size, complexity 
and number of employees.  

Our suggestions were included in the 
final version of the Guidance released in 
November 2019. 

Our 2019 Ethics Index included 
questions on AI for the first time. AI 
impacts organisations in all sectors and 
the ethical considerations around its 
use are under active consideration by 
government departments, the Australian 
Human Rights Commission and standard-
setting bodies. In our submission to the 
Department of Industry, Science and 
Innovation, we expressed support for the 
ongoing discussion about the need for AI 
opportunities to be balanced with risks. 
We also made a submission to Standards 
Australia on a proposed standard for AI. 
Following our submission, we have been 
invited to join the Standards Australia 
Working Group, which will develop a 
standard.  

Empowering governance 
and risk management 
professionals with skills and 
knowledge
Our program of thought leadership 
continued in 2019 on a range of issues, 

including the financial services royal 
commission, engaging with regulators, 
minutes and the new edition of ASXCG’s 
Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations. 

Our four policy committees and their 
working groups, continue to underpin 
the development of our policy and 
advocacy positions and provide input to 
our submissions and thought leadership. 
Given the increase in activity by APRA, 
we have established a bi-monthly APRA- 
regulated-member discussion group to 
share information about APRA-related 
activities following the financial services 
royal commission. In 2019 Governance 
Institute lodged 18 submissions. 

The review of the documents in the 
Donated Member Documents service 
(formerly Useful Practitioner Documents) 
has now been finalised. Seven Good 
Governance Guides have been revised 
or released, and two technical booklets 
(Duties of Officers and Directors and 
Public Sector Governance) have been 
updated. We continue to engage with 
members and others each month in 
Governance Directions, posts on LinkedIn 
and other social media channels.  

Leadership and influence

18 submissions

1,800 downloads of Insights 
documents on the financial 
services royal commission

Member of the drafting committee 
for the Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations

Expert witness on governance at the 
Royal Commission into Aged Care 
Quality and Safety. 
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As Governance Institute is a professional services organisation that develops and disseminates 
knowledge, its human capital is critical to its sustainability. The culture of the organisation is 
a balance between being an NFP organisation and member-focused while at the same time 
incorporating many of the features of a performance-oriented commercial business.

Workplace diversity by gender
Entire staff

Senior management

Staff gender balance and 
opportunity
Governance Institute’s employment 
philosophy is open and transparent. All 
positions are advertised publicly and 
internal employees are encouraged 
to apply. Being a small organisation, 
sometimes we recruit outside people, but 
 if possible we promote internally.
There is strong female representation 
among staff at senior management levels 
and further into the organisation.
Senior management reporting for 2018 
changed to only include executive and 
national managers.

Staff turnover
Governance Institute is a small organisation and 
staff levels fluctuate from year to year. During 2019, 
staff turnover was 35 per cent as 17 employees 
retired, resigned or were made redundant due to 
reorganisation. This has provided the opportunity to 
engage staff with the attributes required to deliver 
our strategic goals and progress projects without 
compromising our customer service. 
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We use externally sourced salary surveys and recruitment 
organisations to benchmark the remuneration of roles within 
the organisation. Salary increases may occur throughout the 
year when roles or responsibilities change, supported by an 
appropriate business case, or the Board approves an annual 
increase for all employees.

We recognise that work/life balance is becoming harder to 
achieve as our world becomes more complex and busier. Staff 
are encouraged to utilise our flexible working arrangements 
and this is supported by our IT strategy.

Remuneration and other employee benefits

Board gender balance
Gender balance on the Board reflects the 
gender balance of the total membership 
of Governance Institute, but not new 
members. As Governance Institute’s 
constitution dictates that new Board 
members must generally come from 
state councils, there is a conscious effort 
to maintain female participation on state 
councils. In 2019, 40 per cent of the 
members of state councils were female. 
At year end 50 per cent of state council 
chairs were female.

Staff training
Governance Institute’s expenditure on staff training (as a percentage of personnel costs) was 4.3% in 2019, up from 3.9 per cent 
in 2018. The company encourages all staff to undertake internal short course training in order to gain a greater understanding of 
governance and risk issues in general. 
Additionally, new staff continue to receive training in our customer relationship management and IT system platforms.
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Principal activities, objectives and strategies 
The principal activities of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 
(Governance Institute) during the year were to champion  
whole-of-organisation governance and risk management 
through education, advocacy and engagement with members 
and the broader community.

There was no significant change in the nature of the activities 
during the year and the operations are in accordance with the 
constitution. The company’s financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for- 
profits Commission Regulation 2013 and Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

In order to meet its long-term objectives, the company will strive 
to see that: 

• Australia’s governance frameworks lead the world in 
facilitating a strong economy underpinned by responsible 
performance and organisational culture. 

• current members and aspiring company secretaries, 
governance professionals, risk managers and directors are 
provided with the best education, resource support and 
career support to enhance their professional standing. 

• the organisation is strategically focused on being innovative; 
encouraging positive engagement with, and influencing, all 
stakeholders; and fostering a culture and values that ensures 
it is sustainable. 

• governance practitioners are provided with a trusted 
community from which they can draw education, provide 
input and access a knowledge sharing network of support, 
appropriate for their changing needs and circumstances 
throughout their chosen governance careers. 

The company’s short-term objective is to focus on member 
engagement, product innovation and lifting our profile for the 
next 12 to 18 months to maintain member retention at 92 per 
cent or better. 

In order to meet its short-term objectives, the company will 
continue to: 

• create and implement member engagement strategies that 
are more targeted and aim to increase our relevance and 
profile 

• strengthen our advocacy activities to influence decision 
makers and support responsible performance using good 
governance practices 

• better align our product offering to meet the career stages 
and interests of our members. 

Your Directors present this report on the company for the financial year ended  
31 December 2019.

Financial results
An operating surplus from ordinary activities of $337,846 was 
made for the year as Governance Institute is endorsed as 
exempt from income tax. 

Accumulated Members’ Funds at year-end totalled $5,031,584.

Dividends
Being limited by guarantee, Governance Institute does not pay 
dividends. 

Review and result of operations
Company performance is was assessed by the Board of 
Directors at their five scheduled Board meetings held during the 
year. 

Forecast reviews are presented and discussed as to the 
progress between budget and actual results achieved. The Risk, 
Audit and Finance Committee also reviews the budget and the 
results of operations prior to recommendations made to the 
Board of Directors for their consideration. 

Total revenue for the year amounting to $10.24 million 
primarily came from member and subscriber fees 32.8 per 
cent; postgraduate courses 21.1 per cent; and short courses, 
Certificates and publications 42.5 per cent. 

Total expenditure for the year amounting to $9.90 million 
was primarily on direct costs for short courses, Certificates 
and publications 8.3 per cent; direct costs for postgraduate 
courses 7 per cent; payroll 59 per cent and governance and 
administration 21.4 per cent. 

Likely developments 
Likely developments in the operations of Governance Institute 
and the expected results of those operations in future financial 
years are disclosed in the Chair and CEO’s report at pages 4 –5 
and the integrated report from pages 6–27. 

Environmental regulations 
Governance Institute’s operations are not regulated by 
any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

Events subsequent to balance date 
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 
the end of the financial year pertaining to the 2019 operations. 
However, at the time of writing this report COVID-19 is 
significantly impacting all sectors of the global economy, and 
will almost certainly result in changes to the operations of 
Governance Institute in 2020. 

Directors’ report
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Auditor’s indemnification 
Governance Institute has not, during or since the end of the 
financial year, in respect of any person who is or has been an 
auditor of Governance Institute or a related body corporate, 
indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying 
against a liability incurred as an auditor, including costs and 
expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings, or paid 
or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring 
against a liability incurred as an auditor for the costs or 
expenses to defend legal proceedings. 

Directors’ interests and benefits
As Governance Institute is limited by guarantee, none of 
the Directors holds an interest but each, as a member of 
Governance Institute, is liable to the extent of their undertaking 
under Governance Institute’s constitution.

During or since the end of the financial year, Governance 
Institute has paid premiums to insure the Directors against 
liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending 
any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting 
in the capacity of Director of Governance Institute other 
than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to 
Governance Institute. Premiums were paid for each of the 
Directors listed on pages 8–9. The insurance contract entered 
into by Governance Institute prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liabilities insured by the insurance contract and the amount 
of the premiums.

Governance Institute’s constitution allows for the inclusion of 
indemnities in favour of persons who are or have been a Director 
or officer of Governance Institute. To the extent permitted by 
law, Governance Institute indemnifies every person who is or 
has been a Director or officer against any liability to any person 
incurred while acting in that capacity in good faith, and against 
costs and expenses incurred by that person in that capacity 
in successfully defending legal proceedings and ancillary 
matters and operates to the extent that the loss or liability is not 
covered by a valid and current insurance policy. The company 
did not execute any deeds of indemnity, insurance and access 
agreements during the year.

Payments to the Directors and to entities from which the 
Directors may benefit for services by the Directors or entities 
are disclosed in Notes 8 and 19 to the Financial Statements on 
pages 40 and 44.

No other Directors of Governance Institute, during or since the 
end of the financial year, received or have become entitled to 
receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate 
amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
Directors shown in the financial report or the fixed salary of 
a full-time employee of Governance Institute or of a related 

Directors’ report

The organisation is strategically 
focused on being innovative; 

encouraging positive engagement 
with, and influencing, all 

stakeholders; and fostering a 
culture and values that ensures 

 it is sustainable.

body corporate) by reason of a contract made by Governance 
Institute or of a related body corporate with one of the Directors 
or with a firm of which they are a member or with a company in 
which they have a substantial financial interest.the years. 

Proceedings on behalf of the company
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of 
those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during 
the years. 

Attendance at Directors’ meetings 
During 2019 attendance by individual Directors at meetings they 
were entitled to attend, was as set out in the table below.

Board of 
Directors

Risk, Audit 
& Finance 
Committee

Warren Baillie 5 of 5 3 of 4

Garth Fountain-Smith 5 of 5 –

Andrew Leake 5 of 5 4 of 4

Christine Manuel 5 of 5 –

John Mazengarb 5 of 5 4 of 4

Rachel Rees 5 of 5 3 of 4

Tim Timchur 5 of 5 4 of 4

Peter Turnbull 5 of 5 –

Continuing members of the Board of Governance Institute at the 
date of this report are Warren Baillie FGIA, Garth Fountain-Smith 
FGIA, Andrew Leake FGIA, John Mazengarb FGIA, Rachel Rees FGIA, 
Christine Manuel FGIA, Tim Timchur FGIA and Peter Turnbull FGIA.
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practice, corporate governance, financial management, office 
and business management in financial services, taxation 
matters. Appointed Company Secretary of Governance Institute 
on 29 March 2019. He is also the Australian Secretary of The 
Chartered Governance Institute.

Auditors’ independence declaration
The Auditors’ independence declaration is set out on page 48 
and forms part of the Directors’ report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019

*Andrew Horne resigned following the May Board meeting. No 
Remuneration Committee meetings were held in  2018.

Liability of members on winding up
The liability of members (or within one year after ceasing to be 
a member) on winding up is limited to an amount not exceeding 
$100.  

Diversity of employees
In terms of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations reporting 
requirements, the respective proportion of men and women 
employees in the whole organisation, in senior executive 
positions and on the Board are as  follows:

In whole of 
organisation

In senior executive 
positions

On the 
board

Men 24% 22% 75%

Women 76% 78% 25%

Corporate Governance Statement
Our Corporate Governance Statement is available on our 
website.

Company details
The registered office and principal place of business of the 
company is:
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia.
ABN 49 008 615 950

Company Secretary
Bill Pallister FCIS, FGIA, FCPA, MAICD, FFINSIA, Assoc Comm (Curtin) 
— Chartered Secretary, experienced in company secretarial 

Warren Baillie FGIA 
Director

Peter Turnbull FGIA 
Director

Directors’ signatures

John Mazengarb FGIA 
Director

Rachel Rees FGIA 
Chair

Tim Timchur FGIA 
Director

Garth Fountain-Smith FGIA  
Director

Andrew Leake FGIA 
Director

Christine Manuel FGIA 
Director

On behalf of the board by resolution of 
the Directors, as signed above.

SYDNEY, 27 March 2020
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Financial report
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 
31 December 2019

Note 2019 
$

2018 
$

Revenue 4(a)  10,237,025  9,927,379

Other income — Brisbane lease termination 4(b)  -  425,619 

Expenses
Depreciation expense 5(a) (712,754)  (389,788)

Other expenses 5(b) (9,186,425)  (9,249,855)

Surplus before income tax expense 337,846 713,355
Income tax expense  -  - 

Surplus after income tax 337,846 713,355
Total comprehensive surplus for the year attributable to members 337,846  713,355 

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019

Note 2019 
$

2018 
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,811,550  2,939,380 
Trade and other receivables 10 56,677  51,161 

Other assets 11 327,558  211,894

Total current assets 4,195,785  3,202,435
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 3,023,747  3,097,176 

Intangible assets 13 1,610,879  1,809,938 

Right-of-use assets 14 1,867,025 - 

Total non-current assets 6,501,651  4,907,114
Total assets 10,697,436  8,109,549 
Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables 15 476,285  450,143 

Deferred revenue 16 2,875,269  2,485,585 

Provisions 17(a) 352,944  465,095

Lease liabilities 18(b) 386,130  -

Total current liabilities 4,090,628  3,400,823 
Non-current liabilities

Provisions  17(b) 19,849  14,988

Lease liabilities 18(b) 1,555,375 - 

Total non-current liabilities 1,575,224  14,988 
Total liabilities 5,665,852  3,415,811 
Net assets 5,031,584  4,693,738 
Members' funds

Reserves 6 763,033  763,033 

Accumulated surplus 7 4,268,551 3,930,705

Total members' funds 5,031,584  4,693,738 
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Statement of changes in members’ funds for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note 2019 
$

2018 
$

Opening balance 4,693,738  3,980,383 
Surplus for the year 337,846  287,736 

Other income 4(b) -  425,619 

Total recognised surplus and expenses for the year attributable to the 
members 337,846  713,355 
Closing balance 5,031,584  4,693,738 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note 2019 
$

2018 
$

Cash flows from operating activities  

Subscriptions received 3,519,540  3,629,922 

Receipts from participants in courses and other activities 7,178,143  7,114,487 
Payments to suppliers and employees (9,395,287)  (9,745,068)

Interest received 47,322  34,490 

Other income — Brisbane lease termination settlement -  425,619 

Interest paid on lease liability (111,762) -
Net cash provided by operating activities 21(b) 1,237,956  1,459,450 
Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 12 (18,987)  (66,970)

Payments for intangible assets 13 (53,083)  (199,272)

Net cash used in investing activities (72,070)  (266,242)

Cash flow from financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities (293,716) -
Net cash used in financing activities (293,716) -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 872,170  1,193,208

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,939,380  1,746,172 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 3,811,550  2,939,380 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.   Corporate information 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (the ‘Company’) is a 
Company incorporated limited by guarantee and domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000. The Company is 
a not-for-profit entity.

In the event of the Company being wound up, the liability of 
each member, or each former Member who ceased to be a 
member within a year of the Company being wound up, is limited 
to an amount not exceeding $100. As the Company is limited 
by guarantee, there is no reference in the statement of financial 
position to share capital or shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s principal activities in the course of the financial 
year were to champion whole-of-organisation governance and 
risk management through education, advocacy and engagement 
with members and the broader community.

2.   Basis of preparation 
(a) Statement of compliance 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
which has been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards (AAS), including Australian Accounting 
Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission 
Regulation 2013. The financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) applicable 
for not-for-profit entities. 

A statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the Company 
applying the not-for-profit sector specific requirements 
contained in AIFRS.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 27 March 2020.

(b) Basis of measurement 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historic costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except where stated, current 
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair 
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 

current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ 
from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected.

(e) Changes in accounting policies 
Except for the changes below, the Company has consistently 
applied the accounting policies to all periods presented in these 
financial statements.

(i) AASB 1058 Income for Not-for profit Entities
The Company has applied AASB 1058 from 1 January 2019. 
AASB 1058 addresses the recognition and measurement of 
income for not-for-profit entities. The concept of reciprocal and 
non-reciprocal transactions has been removed, and instead an 
assessment of enforceability and performance obligations is 
required. There has been no significant impact in the Company’s 
revenue recognition. 

(ii) AASB 16 Leases
The Company has applied AASB 16 from 1 January 2019 
using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues 
to be reported under AASB 117 and IFRIC 4. The details of 
accounting policies under AASB 117 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed 
separately if they are different from those under AASB 16 and 
the impact of changes is disclosed in Note 2(e)(ii)ii.

i Definition of a lease
Previously, the Company determined at contract inception 
whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under IFRIC 4. 
Under AASB 16, the Company assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained 
in Note 3(e).
On transition to AASB 16, the Company elected to apply the 
practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. It applied AASB 16 only to contracts 
that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were 
not identified as leases under AASB 117 and IFRIC 4 were not 
reassessed for whether there is a lease. Therefore, the definition 
of a lease under AASB 16 was applied only to contracts entered 
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

ii As a lessee 
As a lessee, the Company previously classified leases as 
operating or finance leases based on its assessment of 
whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the 
Company. Under AASB 16, the Company recognises right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for most leases — i.e. these 
leases are on-balance sheet. 

Leases classified as operating leases under AASB 117 

At transition, lease liabilities were measured at the present value 
of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Company’s 
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incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use 
assets are measured at their carrying amount as if AASB 16 
had been applied since the commencement date, discounted 
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of 
initial application — the Company applied this approach to its 
property leases.

The Company used the following practical expedients when 
applying AASB 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under AASB 117. 

• Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with 
similar characteristics.

• Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets 
and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease 
term.

• Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use 
asset at the date of initial application.

• Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the 
contract contains options to extend or terminate. 

Leases previously classified as finance leases

For leases that were classified as finance leases under  
AASB 117, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the 
lease liability at 1 January 2019 are determined at the carrying 
amount of the lease asset and lease liability under AASB 117 
immediately before that date.

Impact on financial statements

On transition to AASB 16, the Company recognised an additional 
$980,694 of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. When 
measuring lease liabilities, the Company discounted lease 
payments using its incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 
2019. The weighted average rate applied is 5%.

Operating lease commitments at 31 
December 2018 as disclosed in the 
Company’s financial statements 1,206,741

Discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 980,695

Lease liabilities recognised at  
1 January 2019 980,695

Also, in relation to those leases under AASB 16, the Company 
has recognised depreciation and interest costs, instead of 
operating lease expense. During the year ended 31 December 
2019, the Company recognised $368,196 of depreciation 
charges and $111,762 of interest costs from these leases. 

3.   Significant accounting policies 

(a) Financial instruments 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised initially on the date at which the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.     

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are 
transferred. 

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified according to their business model 
and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. Except 
for those receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component and are measured at the transaction price, all 
financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transactions costs (where applicable).

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments, are classified into the following four categories:

1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

2. Financial assets at amortised cost

3. Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI)

4. Equity Instruments at FVTOCI.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial 
recognition unless the Company changes its business model for 
managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting 
period following the change in the business model.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that 
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance 
income and finance expenses, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses.

Financial assets with contractual cash flows representing solely 
payments of principal and interest and held within a business 
model of ‘hold to collect’ contractual cash flows are accounted 
for at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at amortised costs comprise of cash at bank 
and trade and other receivables. There are no financial assets 
classified under the FVPTL, debt instruments at FVTOCI and 
equity instruments at FVTOCI categories.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely 
unchanged from AASB 139, the Company’s financial liabilities 
were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for 
completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below. The 
Company’s financial liabilities include, trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where 
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
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and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are 
designated and effective as hedging instruments).

(b) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition 
for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and 
capitalised borrowing costs. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and 
equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other 
expenses in profit or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual 
value.  Significant components of individual assets are assessed 
and if a component has a useful life that is different from 
the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated 
separately.  Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment.  
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  
Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset 
are:

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate

Building — strata entitlement 1.33%
Strata and leasehold improvements 20%
Computer systems, furniture and  
office equipment  10% – 33.33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(c) Intangible assets
(i) Website and customer relationship management system   
    development costs
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect 
of gaining new technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes.  

Development expenditure is capitalised only if development 
costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 
are probable, and the Company intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.  
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable 
to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalised 
borrowing costs.  Other development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit 
or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they 
are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives for the current years are as follows:

Capitalised website development costs 5 years

Capitalised customer relationship management 
(CRM) system development 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
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(d) Income tax  
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd is for income tax purposes 
endorsed as a charitable institution. Its income is therefore 
exempt from Income Tax under Subdivision 50-B of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

(e) Leases  
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses 
whether:

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset — this 
may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be 
physically distinct or represent substantially all of the 
capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the 
period of use

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The 
Company has this right when it has the decision- making 
rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what 
purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision 
about how and for what purpose the asset is used is 
predetermined, the Company has the right to direct the use of 
the asset if either:

 º the Company has the right to operate the asset or

 º the Company designed the asset in a way that 
predetermines how and for what purpose it will be 
used.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on 
or after 1 January 2019.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains 
a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their 
relative stand-alone prices.

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Company 
determined whether the arrangement was or contained a lease 
based on the assessment of whether:

• fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets

• the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. An 
arrangement conveyed the right to use the asset if one of the 
following was met:

 º the purchaser had the ability or right to operate the 
asset while obtaining or controlling more than an 
insignificant amount of the output

 º the purchaser had the ability or right to control 
physical access to the asset while obtaining or 
controlling more than an insignificant amount of the 
output or

 º facts and circumstances indicated that it was 
remote that other parties would take more than an 
insignificant amount of the output, and the price per 
unit was neither fixed per unit of output nor equal to 
the current market price per unit of output.

As a lessee

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date and plus any initial direct costs 
incurred.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the 
straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of 
property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of 
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, and the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date

• lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company 
is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company 
is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
The Company presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
separately in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for short-term leases of office equipment that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated 
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.
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Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Company classified 
leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership as finance leases. When this was the case, the leased 
assets were measured initially at an amount equal to the lower 
of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Minimum lease payments were the payments over 
the lease term that the lessee was required to make, excluding 
any contingent rent.

Subsequently, the assets were accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating 
leases and were not recognised in the Company’s statement of 
financial position. Payments made under operating leases were 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised as an 
integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

(f) Goods and service tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST). Receivables and 
payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. Cash flows in the statement of cash flows 
are included on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities that are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is 
classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Payroll tax
During 2009, the Company became exempt from the payment of 
payroll tax in NSW under the provisions of Schedule 2 Division 4 
Clause 12(1)(c) of the Payroll Tax Act 2007 (NSW).

(h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments.

(i) Employee benefits
Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
statement of financial position date. Employee benefits 
expected to be settled within one year of the statement of 
financial position date have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Employee 
benefits expected to be settled more than one year from the 
statement of financial position date have been measured at 
the present value of future payments expected to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to statement of 
financial position date. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departure and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
to their net present value using an estimate of market yields at 
the statement of financial position date on professional markets 
investments.

(j) Revenue recognition
Revenue represents income earned from membership 
subscriptions and the provision of related services. Membership 
subscription revenue is recognised as and when received in 
relation to the current period. Revenue from the provision of 
other services is recognised upon the delivery of the service 
to Members/customers. Interest revenue is recognised on 
a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates 
applicable to the financial assets.  All revenue is stated net of 
the amount of GST.

(k) Impairment 
Non-derivative financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit 
losses (ECL) on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances for cash at bank 
balances as 12-month ECL as credit risk (i.e. the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward looking information.

12 month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is 
less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is 
the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk.  

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit 
losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
(i.e the difference between the cash flow due to the entity 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial 
assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. A financial 
asset is ‘credit impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial 
position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 
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(ii) Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying 
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment 
property, inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or cash generating units (CGU). 

The recoverable amount of asset of CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is 
based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risk 
specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are 
allocated to the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU on a 
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss and been recognised.

(l) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or 
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that 
outflow can be reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation at reporting date.

(m) Trusts
The Institute Trust and The Institute No 2 Trust were established 
in 1993 to accept gifts and bequests from Members and others.

In terms of the will of Leonard Chant, following the death of 
the last life tenant, a one-fifth share of the estate had been 
left to the Company to set up a trust to pay scholarships 
tenable overseas for advancement of training in secretarial 
and administrative knowledge to immediate postgraduate 
candidates of the Company’s examination.

The terms of the original will were found to be impracticable and 
following approval of a cy pres scheme in the Supreme Court of 
New South Wales, on the 28 October 2011 before Bryson AJ, 
the purposes of the Trust were confirmed to be that: 

The Trustee (Governance Institute of Australia Ltd) holds, uses 
and applies the trust property to pay scholarships for entry: 

(a)     into the Trustee’s postgraduate courses dealing with                
         applied corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit  
         sector governance, and 

(b)     into any other postgraduate course dealing with applied   
         corporate, public sector and/or not-for-profit sector     
         governance whether in Australia or overseas. 

The scholarships are available to any persons with tertiary 
qualifications including, but not limited to, graduates from 
any courses which contain a corporate governance, company 
administration or public sector management component, 
whether that course has been conducted by the Trustee or 
any other government accredited Australian tertiary education 
institution. 

The scholarships would be tenable at the Trustee, government 
accredited overseas institutions or any other government 
accredited Australian tertiary education institutions offering 
such courses, that the Trustee considers to be appropriate. 

The financial statements of trust funds are not consolidated 
with those of the Company because the Company does not have 
direct control over them, but are disclosed in Note 22.

(n) Comparative figures
Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures 
have been adjusted to conform to the changes in presentation 
for the current year.

(o) Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 
is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost 
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of 
the year.

(p) Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at 
reporting date for goods and services received by the Company 
during the reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid 
within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

(q) Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue represents revenue received in advance which 
is not entitled to be recognised in the current period.

(r) Subsidiary companies
During prior years, the Company registered three subsidiary 
companies with ASIC to reserve appropriate names for 
future activities. The companies are dormant and have not 
commenced trading.

In accordance with AASB 127 (Aus1.3), the directors have 
determined that the three subsidiary companies are immaterial, 
both individually and in aggregate, to the financial position, 
performance and cash flows of the Group and consolidated 
financial statements have not been prepared.

The Directors of the subsidiary companies are noted as per the 
Directors’ report on pages 8-9
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2019 
$

2018 
$

4. Revenue
a) Operating activities

    Member and subscriber fees 3,358,781  3,163,210 

    Postgraduate courses 2,159,530  2,180,291 

    Short courses and Certificate courses 2,848,399  2,822,808 

    PD events (GRMF, updates/seminars and workshops, national events) 1,493,400  1,493,400 

    Sponsorship 186,935  115,017 

    Interest 47,322  34,490 

    Other income 127,784  97,459 

    Publications, journal and merchandise 14,874  20,704 

Total operating revenue 10,237,025  9,927,379 
b) Non-operating activities revenue

    Other income — Brisbane lease termination* -  425,619 
 
*Net consideration received for agreeing to early termination of lease of premises at 370 Queen Street, Brisbane. Expenses against this 
consideration incurred in 2019.  

2019 
$

2018 
$

5. Surplus from ordinary activities
Surplus from ordinary activities is stated before income tax expense has been determined, after 
charging:

a) Depreciation expense and amortisation expense

    Property and leasehold improvements 16,865 20,886

    Computer systems, furniture and office equipment 75,551  88,977 

    Intangible assets 252,142  279,925

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 344,558 389,788
    Depreciation — Right-of-use assets 368,196

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 712,754  389,788 
b) Other expenses

Personnel 5,014,766  4,920,720

Superannuation contributions 435,553  443,636 

ICSA, UK — capitation fee 116,506  113,547 

Rental expenses on operating leases 37,628  318,955 

Occupancy and state facilities 212,981  223,846 

Auditor's remuneration

    Audit 34,000  31,862 

    Other services 2,670  1,400 

Other expenses from ordinary activities 3,332,321  3,195,889 

Total other expenses 9,186,425  9,249,855 

2019 
$

2018 
$

6. Reserves
Capital surplus reserve 745,933  745,933 

Works of art revaluation reserve 17,100  17,100 

763,033  763,033 
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2019 
$

2018 
$

7. Accumulated surplus
Accumulated surplus at beginning of the year 3,930,705  3,217,350 

Surplus for the year 337,846  713,355 

Accumulated surplus at the end of the year 4,268,551  3,930,705 

8. Key management personnel compensation 
Directors, other than those listed below, do not receive any income from the entity for their services 
as directors.

For presentations at postgraduate courses, short courses and certificates, exam moderation and 
authors fees.

Alan Evans -  300 

Garth Fountain-Smith (see note 19(iii) for Transactions with related parties) -  450 

Andrew Horne -  150 

Tim Timchur (see note 19(v) for Transactions with related parties)  2,400  2,400 

2,400  3,300 

Other key management personnel compensation comprised:
Consists of six executive officers.

Salary and bonuses 1,125,031  943,342 

Superannuation contribution 76,007  89,394 

Long service leave provision 48,830  97,508 

1,249,868  1,130,244
The CEO & Acting CEO’s remuneration consists of:   

CEO & Acting CEO’s salary and bonuses 302,245  275,774 

Superannuation contribution 24,038 23,398 

Long service leave provision 4,273  - 

330,556  299,172 
Total compensation 1,580,424  1,429,416 

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 832  800 

Cash at bank 1,232,608  853,841 

Cash on deposit 1,072,110 1,078,739

Term deposits 1,506,000 1,006,000

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,811,550  2,939,380 

10. Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade debtors 34,928  51,161

Net GST receivable 21,749 - 

Total trade and other receivables 56,677  51,161 
There is no impairment or significant credit risk with any debtor balance.
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2019 
$

2018 
$

11. Other assets
Current

Prepayments 275,021  163,034 

Prepaid ICSA capitation fee 52,537  48,860 

327,558  211,894

12. Property, plant and equipment
Non-current

Building

Strata entitlement — at cost — Hunter Street, Sydney  3,100,000  3,100,000 

Leasehold improvements  571,070  571,070 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (827,834)  (810,969)

2,843,236  2,860,101 
Computer system, furniture and office equipment at cost 1,680,371  1,661,384 

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,521,960)  (1,446,409)

158,411  214,975 

Works of art at valuation  22,100  22,100 
Total property, plant and equipment  3,023,747  3,097,176 

Valuation of strata entitlement
The strata entitlement is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The Board policy, 
recognising statutory requirements for assessment of Statement of Financial Position impairment indicators, is that a valuation at current 
market value be obtained from a registered valuer at three-yearly intervals, and that for each intervening year directors determine a value as 
at  
31 December based on the most recent valuation, market research and other relevant information.   

Strata entitlement at Level 10, 5 Hunter Street, Sydney: purchased on 12 October 2004 for initial cost of $3,100,000. The most recent 
valuation report dated 15 February 2018 was based on an inspection of the property on 13 February 2018, prepared by Bruce John, 
Certified Practising Valuer, Registered Valuer No 1131 and Senior Valuer of Chesterton International (NSW) Pty Limited and valued the strata 
entitlement at $6,450,000 (2015 was $4,400,000). On this basis the directors believe that there are no indicators of impairment of the asset 
carrying value as at 31 December 2019.   

The strata entitlement is encumbered by a registered first mortgage as detailed per Note 23(d).

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year.

Property and 
leasehold 

improvements 
$

Computer systems, 
furniture and  

office equipment
$

 Works of art
$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2019 2,860,101 214,975 22,100 3,097,176
Additions (net of disposals) - 18,987  - 18,987
Depreciation expense (16,865) (75,551) - (92,416)
Carrying amount at  
31 December 2019 2,843,236 158,411 22,100 3,023,747

Property and 
leasehold 

improvements 
$

Computer systems, 
furniture and  

office equipment
$

 Works of art
$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2018  2,880,987 236,962 22,100 3,140,049
Additions (net of disposals) - 66,990 - 66,990
Depreciation expense (20,886)  (88,977) - (109,863)
Carrying amount at  
31 December 2018 2,860,101 214,975 22,100 3,097,176 
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2019 
$

2018 
$

13. Intangible assets
Website development at cost  

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,085,495  886,223 

Acquisitions — developed during the year 7,136  199,272 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (855,624)  (791,825)

Balance at end of year  237,007  293,670 
Customer relationship management system at cost   

Balance at beginning of year  1,883,433  1,883,433 

Acquisitions — developed during the year  -  - 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation  (555,508)  (367,165)

Balance at end of year  1,327,925  1,516,268 
New courses   

Balance at beginning of year - -

Acquisitions — course developed during the year  45,947  54,028 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortisation -  (54,028)

Balance at end of year 45,947 -
Total intangible assets  1,610,879  1,809,938 

Website development costs
The original website was launched during the first quarter of 2012, at which time the intangible asset was considered ready for use and 
has been fully amortised. A new website development commenced during 2017 and the intangible asset was progressively ready for use 
from 1 April 2018. Amortisation commenced from that time. 

Customer relationship management system
In 2015 the Company began development of a new customer relationship management system. The customer relationship management 
system was launched progressively during the last month of 2016, at which time the intangible asset was considered ready for use from  
1 January 2017. Amortisation commenced from that time.

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangibles between the beginning and the end of the current financial year.

Website  
development costs 

$

Customer relationship 
management system 

project
$

 New ICSA 
course

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2019  293,670 1,516,268 - 1,809,938 
Additions (net of disposals) 7,136  -  45,947 53,083
Amortisation expense  (63,799)  (188,343) - (252,142)
Carrying amount at  
31 December 2019 237,008 1,327,925 45,947 1,610,879 

Website  
development costs 

$

Customer relationship 
management system 

project
$

 Effective Director 
Course

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2018 133,404 1,704,611 52,576 1,890,591 

Additions (net of disposals) 199,272  -  - 199,272
Amortisation expense  (39,006)  (188,343) (52,576) (279,925)
Carrying amount at  
31 December 2018 293,670 1,516,268 - 1,809,938
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2019 
$

2018 
$

15. Trade and other payables
Current

Trade creditors and accruals  378,811  381,397

Net GST payable -  11,360 

Accrued ICSA capitation fee - -

Payroll and PAYG tax payable 55,294  - 

Fringe benefits tax payable  9,581  20,636 
Melbourne premises new lease abatement  32,599 36,750

476,285 450,143

Office  
premises 

$

Office 
equipment

$

Total

$

14. Right-of-use assets
The Company leases some office premises and 
some office equipment. Information about the 
leases is presented below 

Balance at 1 January 2019 631,388 349,307 980,695

Additions 1,254,526 - 1,254,526

Depreciation expenses for the year (280,879) (87,317) (368,196)

Balance at  
31 December 2019 1,605,035 261,990 1,867,025

2019 
$

2018 
$

16. Deferred revenue
Subscriptions and fees in advance 2,875,269  2,485,585 

2019 
$

2018 
$

17. Provisions
(a) Current

 Provision for employee short-term entitlements 249,328  251,199 

 Provision for long service leave 103,616  213,896 

 352,944  465,095 
(b) Non-current

Provision for long service leave 19,849 14,988

19,849 14,988

*Average number of full-time equivalent employees  47.50  47.20
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2019 
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2018 
$

19. Related party and subsidiary company disclosures
Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless 
otherwise stated.

(i) ICSA, United Kingdom: under the terms of an operating agreement with ICSA, Governance 
Institute of Australia Ltd remits an administration fee based on the number of Australian 
members and students registered with ICSA as at 30 June each year to meet the expenses of 
the International Institute.     

 In order to restrict exposure to foreign currency fluctuations while meeting its obligation to ICSA, 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd has opened an Australian bank account denominated 
in pounds sterling which is used to remit the administration fees to ICSA. As at balance date, 
an unrealised foreign exchange translation gain of $3,059 (2018 gain of $1,714) has not been 
included. 

 These payments amounted to:    116,506 113,547

116,506  113,547
(ii) Three directors, as disclosed in Directors’ report on pages 8-9, are also directors of Governance 

Institute of Australia Ltd dormant subsidiary companies.
(iii) Fountain-Smith Governance Lawyers Pty Ltd, a company with which Garth Fountain-Smith 

(appointed director 31.1.16), has consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:
1,880 -

(iv) Manuel Projects Pty Ltd, a company with which Christine Manuel (appointed director 1.1.17),  
has consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:

 2,442  12,000

(v) ActivePro Consulting Pty Ltd, a company with which Tim Timchur (appointed director 1.1.18),  
has consulting arrangements, received payments for services of:

 3,000  9,600 

(vi) Catherine Maxwell, Executive Manager, Policy and Advocacy received consideration for  
additional services of:

-  900

(vii) 365 Architechs Pty Ltd, a company with which Tim Timchur (appointed director 1.1.18), has 
provided consulting services and software licence fees.

4,811  -

20. Segment reporting
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd operates as a professional association providing education and promotion of the advancement of 
effective governance and administration of organisations in the private and public sectors, for members and applicants for membership 
and for the public. These operations are in Australia and the revenue from operations is as disclosed per Note 4. The Company is one 
reportable segment.

2019 
$

18. Lease liabilities
(a) Maturity analysis  — contractual undiscovered cash flows

Less than one year 483,205

One to five years 1,072,517

More than five years 813,154

Balance at 31 December 2019 2,368,876 

(b) Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019

Current 386,130

Non-current 1,555,375

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,941,505
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21. Cash and cash equivalents flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash 

Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows.  
 

 Cash on hand 832 800
 Cash at bank 1,232,608 853,841
 Cash on deposit 1,072,110 1,078,739
 Term deposits 1,506,000 1,006,000

3,811,550  2,939,380 

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with surplus from ordinary activities  
after income tax

Net surplus from ordinary activities after income tax 337,846  713,355 
Non-cash flows in surplus from ordinary activities
     Depreciation and amortisation 712,754  389,788 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (5,516)  114,849 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (115,664)  48,396 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 26,142  (2,419)
Increase in deferred revenue 389,684  230,576 
Decrease in provisions (107,290)  (35,095)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,237,956  1,459,450 

22. Trust funds
Statement of financial position

Estate Late Leonard Chant 972,421  967,409 

The Institute Trusts 76,958  76,856 

1,049,379  1,044,265 
Represented by

Current assets

Cash at bank and on deposit and trade and other receivables 1,049,379  1,044,265 

Other current assets 763  1,279 

Total current assets 1,050,142  1,045,544 
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,704  413 
Total current liabilities 3,704  413 
Net trust funds 1,046,438  1,045,131 

Statement of comprehensive income

Income

 Interest — Bequest from Estate Late Leonard Chant 24,282  23,128 

 Interest — Other trust funds -  112 

24,282  23,240 
Expenditure

 Administration cost (3,704)  (1,845)

 Bank fees and charges (121)  (121)

Scholarships (19,150)  (26,280)

Used trust funds 1,307  (5,006)

Opening balance 1,045,131  1,050,137 

Trust funds balance at end of year 1,046,438  1,045,131 
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23. Financial risk management
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9 as 
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

Financial assets at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 3,811,550  2,939,380 

Trade and other receivables 56,677  51,161 

3,868,227  2,990,541 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

 Trade and other payables 476,285  450,143 

476,285  450,143 

Financial risk management objectives and policies   
The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables. The purpose of these financial instruments is to maintain financial prudence of the funds and to contribute any surplus earnings 
towards the Company’s operations.

Financial risk exposures and management   
The main risks that the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

(a) Net fair values
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate fair value. The 
aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position 
and in the Notes to the Financial Statements. There is no difference noted between fair values and carrying values of financial instruments. 

(b) Interest rate risk   
The Company’s exposure to interest rates risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial assets and liabilities.   
The Company’s exposure to market interest rate primarily relates to its cash and cash equivalents.   
At statement of financial position date, the Company had the following financial assets exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk. 
 

2019 
$

2018 
$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,810,718 2,938,580 

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at the balance date. If the interest rates had 
moved, with other variables held constant, post-tax surplus would have been affected as follows:

Post-tax surplus 
higher/(lower)

2019 
$

2018 
$

+1% (100 basis points) 38,107  29,386 

–1% (100 basis points) (38,107)  (29,386)

The movements in surplus are due to higher/lower interest income from cash balances.

(c) Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets  
is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the 
Financial Statements.   

The Company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered 
into by the Company.



Governance Institute of Australia Ltd Annual Report 2019  |   Page 47

Financial report

(g) Liquidity risk 
The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that liquidity risk arising from the Company’s financial 
liabilities is minimised so that it will meet its obligations to repay the financial liabilities as and when they fall due.   
To help reduce these risks, the Company has a liquidity policy in place which requires minimum average levels of cash and cash equivalents 
to be maintained.   
Trade and other financial liabilities mainly originate from financing of assets used in the Company’s ongoing operations. These are 
summarised in the table below and represent the Company’s total liquidity risk.

Year ended 31 December 2019 Less than 
1 year

$

1–5 years

$

Non-interest 
bearing

$

Total

$

Weighted 
average

%
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  3,811,550  -  -  3,811,550  1.7 
Trade and other receivables  -  -  56,677  56,677 

 3,811,550  -  56,677  3,868,227
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  -  -  476,285  476,285

 -  -  476,285  476,285 

Year ended 31 December 2018 Less than 
1 year

$

1–5 years

$

Non-interest 
bearing

$

Total

$

Weighted 
average

%
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  2,939,380  -  - 2,939,380 1.93
Trade and other receivables  -  - 51,161 51,161

 2,939,380  - 51,161 2,990,541
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  -  -  450,143  450,143 

 -  -  450,143  450,143 

24. Events subsequent to reporting date
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year pertaining to the 2019 operations. However, at the 
time of writing this report COVID-19 is significantly impacting all sectors of the global economy, and will almost certainly result in changes to 
the operations of Governance Institute in 2020.  

25. Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

(d) Financial facility
The Company has a $350,000 facility for the issue of bank guarantees which is secured by a registered first mortgage over the strata 
entitlement as detailed in Note 12.

(e) Price risk
The Company is not exposed to any material commodity price risk.   

(f) Foreign currency risk
The Company seeks to mitigate the effects of foreign currency exposure by purchasing pounds sterling (GBP) and holding them in an 
Australian bank account denominated in GBP until it pays its obligations to ICSA UK.   

The following sensitivity analysis is based on foreign currency risk exposure in existence at balance date.

2019 
$

2018 
$

Cash balance of GBP at year end  40,747  40,747 

Post-tax surplus 
higher/(lower)

2019 
$

2018 
$

AUD/GBP+5%  2,037  2,037 

AUD/GBP-5%  (2,037)  (2,037)
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration under subdivision 60-C section 60-40 of Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012
To: the Directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Governance Institute of Australia for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019 there have been:

(i)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

David Sinclair
Partner
Sydney

27 March 2020

In the opinion of the Directors of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd (‘the Company’):

(a)  the financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 31 to 47 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its performance, for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013; 
and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due  
and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

John Mazengarb FGIA Andrew Leake FGIA

Director Director

27 March 2020

Directors’ declaration

Auditor’s independence 
declaration
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Independent auditor’s report

Report on the audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the Financial Report, of the Governance Institute of 
Australia Ltd (the Company).
In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Report of the Company is 
in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission (ACNC) Act 2012, including:
i.  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 

31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year ended on that date; and

ii.  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Regulation 2013.

The Financial Report comprises:
i. Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019.
ii.  Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

Statement of changes in members funds, and Statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended.

iii. Notes including a summary of significant accounting policies.
iv. Directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 
section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the ACNC Act 2012 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report 
in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.

Other Information
Other Information is financial and non-financial information in 
Governance Institute of Australia Ltd’s annual reporting which 
is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s 
Report. The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.
The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this 
Auditor’s Report was the annual report.
Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other 
Information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 
or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our 
responsibility is to read the Other Information. In doing so, we 
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent 
with the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this Other Information, and based on the work we 
have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to 
the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the  
Financial Report
The Directors are responsible for:
i.  Preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC.
ii.  Implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation 

of a Financial Report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

iii.  Assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and whether the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the  
Financial Report
Our objective is:
i.  to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial 

Report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; and

ii.  to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this Financial Report.
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.

to the members of Governance Institute of Australia Ltd

*(Including independence standards)
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We also:
i.  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

Financial Report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

ii.  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the Audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the registered Company’s internal control.

iii.  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Directors.

iv.  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
registered Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our Auditor’s Report to the related disclosures 
in the Financial Report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s Report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the registered Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

v.  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
Financial Report, including the disclosures, and whether the 
Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors of the registered Company 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG 

David Sinclair 
Partner 
Sydney

27 March 2020
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Note 2019 
$

2018 
$

2017 
$

2016 
$

2015 
$

Operating revenue

Member and subscriber fees  3,358,781  3,163,210  3,000,552  2,855,285  2,764,827 
Postgraduate courses 2,159,530  2,180,291  2,329,999  2,523,239  2,682,274 

Short courses and Certificates  4,341,798  4,316,208  3,724,791  3,439,504  3,532,474 
Sponsorship 186,935  115,017  369,072  421,508  477,600 
Interest 47,322  34,490  31,936  56,697  80,408 
Other income 127,784  97,459  95,092  111,155  69,067 
Publications, journal and merchandise1 1 14,874  20,704  25,659  24,802  86,427 

10,237,025  9,927,379  9,577,101  9,432,190  9,693,077 

Operating expenses

Personnel 5,450,319  5,364,357  4,926,360  4,726,246  4,996,526 
Personnel — Transformation project2 -  -  232,018  -  - 

Postgraduate courses 2 670,812  681,180  764,380  780,004  829,627 
Short courses and Certificates 806,907  891,171  787,608  832,311  910,917 
Occupancy and state facilities 250,609  542,801  546,959  568,060  585,841 
Publications, journal and merchandise1 12,411  37,632  292,126  277,760  270,673 
Depreciation and amortisation 3 712,755  389,788  368,703  322,219  335,331 
Travel and meetings 234,343  259,298  268,063  256,178  253,996 
Profile and website maintenance 675,146  649,906  593,635  680,510  491,922 
Repairs and maintenance 304,014  296,456  386,503  321,663  307,365 

ICSA, UK — capitation fee — see note 19(i) 116,506  113,547  99,940  114,067  109,352 
Telephone, facsimile and email 72,290  169,606  148,151  145,708  117,863 
Bank and credit card fees 28,343  31,828  27,341  28,853  31,747 

Interest on lease 4 111,762 - - - -
Printing and stationery 20,431  26,534  16,329  19,753  79,228 
International representation 31,296  53,812  85,854  63,416  84,080 
Postage and courier 10,126  10,015  12,593  13,428  16,515 
Insurance 43,243  41,767  37,658  36,467  36,504 
Other expenses 5 258,107  32,791  61,820  77,185  47,542 
Auditors 34,000  31,862  26,500  25,500  26,000 
Professional services 55,759  15,292  50,674  18,706  28,499 

9,899,179  9,639,643  9,733,215  9,308,034  9,559,528 
(Deficit)/surplus from ordinary activities 337,846  287,736  (156,114)  124,156  133,549 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of asset  -  -  55  - 
Other income — Brisbane lease termination 
settlement 6 -  425,619 - - -
Total (Deficit)/surplus for the year 337,846  713,355  (156,114)  124,211  133,549 

1 Publications, journal and merchandise includes publication and sale of technical booklets.
2 Personnel — Transformation Project expense incurred in 2017 included specialised advice and redundancy payments.
3 Depreciation — Includes right-of-use asset incurred in 2019 due to applying AASB.
4 Interest on lease expense incurred in 2019 as part of lease payment due to applying new accounting standard AASB 16 Lease.
5 Other expense include Brisbane premises relocation expense incurred in 2019 for $85,538 and change program consultancy fees of $102,199.
6 Net gain of early termination of leased Brisbane premises

Detailed operating surplus 
and deficit accounts
for the five years 2015–2019
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Governance Institute of Australia Ltd 

Registered office

National office
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street,
Sydney NSW 2000
T (02) 9223 5744
E info@governanceinstitute.com.au
W governanceinstitute.com.au
ACN: 008 615 950
ABN: 49 008 615 950

State offices

New South Wales & ACT
Level 10, 5 Hunter Street
Sydney NSW 2000
T (02) 9223 5744

Queensland
Level 8, 100 Creek Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
T (07) 3229 6879

South Australia, Northern Territory & Tasmania
PO Box 6178 
Linden Park SA 5065
T (08) 8379 6771

Victoria
Level 7, 500 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
T (03) 9620 2488

Western Australia
Ground Floor, 8 Victoria Avenue
Perth WA 6000
T (08) 9321 8777


